IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ARTHUR GERALD HUDSON AND LINDA S. HUDSON

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-TS-01958

LOWE'S HOME CENTERS, INC.

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS ARTHUR GERALD HUDSON AND LINDA S. HUDSON

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT:

Chuck R. McRae (MSB#McRae Law Firm 416 E. Amite Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Office: 601.944.1008

Fax: 866.236.7731

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ARTHUR GERALD HUDSON AND LINDA S. HUDSON

APPELLANTS

VS.

SUPREME COURT NO. 2010-TS-01958 CAUSE NO. 2009-00184(2)

LOWE'S HOME CENTERS, INC.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Service was Proper Based on the Admissions of Lowe's Home Center's Inc.
- Settlement Negotiations Coupled with Informal Discovery is Good Cause Under Rule 4.

STATEMENT REQUESTING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to M.R.A.P. 34(b), Appellant requests that oral arguments be heard in this matter. Due their complex nature, the Court's consideration of the issues presented by this appeal may be assisted or advanced by the presence of the parties before the Court to comment upon the issues and respond to any inquiries.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/OPERATIVE FACTS

Appellants, Arthur Gerald Hudson, and Linda S. Hudson initiated the underlying action following an injury caused by a forklift operated by an employee of Lowe's Home Center. Inc. in Pascagoula, Mississippi. On May 5, 2006, while shopping at Lowe's Home Center. Inc.. Arthur Gerald Hudson was hit with a forklift as it came around the corner at a high rate of speed.

Immediately following the accident, he began experiencing dizziness and pain in the back of his neck that radiated into the back of his head like an electric shock as well as injuries to his knee.

Due to the accident, he continues suffering incapacitated, episodic dizziness and near syncope and also nausea, he is unable to carry out his daily routine activities as a result of the impact with the forklift. Linda S. Hudson has suffered loss as a result of her husband's injuries including a diminished wage earning capacity, loss of services, loss of consortium, and enjoyment of life.

Counsel for the Plaintiff, Chuck McRae, and counsel for the Defendant, Ken Adcock began settlement negotiations. McRae had been informed that Adcock would be representing Lowe's and, for all intents and purposes, would be their "spokesperson" in this matter. Lowe's

had instructed McRae that Adcock had been employed to represent them and waived the statute of limitations by thirty days with an extension. To prohibit the expiration of the statute of limitations, three tolling agreements were agreed to and signed by both McRae and Adcock. The last of these three tolling agreements extended the statute of limitations to July 31, 2009. McRae was informed by Adcock that this would be the last tolling agreement. R. at 30-33. Adcock advised McRae to file the lawsuit and take it "to the next level."

On July 27, 2009, Hudson filed his Complaint in the Jackson County Circuit Court against the Appellee, Lowe's Home Stores, Inc. In fact, the Complaint states in Paragraph C that "... counsel of record for Lowe's Home Centers is Ken Adcock, Esq. and he may be served with process at 199 Charmant, Suite 1, Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158." R. at 6. Later, when Adcock file Lowe's Answer, it was admitted that Adcock was proper to be served on behalf of the Defendant. R. at 18.

During all periods in which the tolling agreements were effective, Adcock asked for documents which he believed would assist him in negotiating a settlement. McRae fulfilled every request for documents and even agreed that Adcock could speak to Hudson's doctors. Essentially, Adcock was allowed to conduct informal discovery behind the façade of "settlement negotiations," R. at 98-99.

On or around August 6, 2009, Plaintiff's counsel served a copy, via hand delivery, of the Complaint to Adcock at his office located at 199 Charmant, Suite 1, Ridgeland, Mississippi. R. at 123. Various documents were requested informally by Adcock during this time period. In November of 2009, he advised that he had lost this copy of the Complaint and requested another copy. R. at 89.

Settlement negotiations and informal discovery and investigations continued until January 5, 2010 when Adcock officially ended all negotiations following a telephone conversation with McRae. Adcock requested that McRae serve Lowe's again as he did not want to be "crossed up", or in tensions with his client. R. at 89. Further, in a correspondence stating the same, Adcock again states he cannot find his copy of the Complaint and asked McRae to send a copy to him. R. at 96.

On January 20, 2010, Lowe's was personally served process through their agent.

Corporation Service Company, 506 South President Street, Jackson, Mississippi 39201. R. at 13.

On February 8, 2010, Lowe's filed their Answer and Defenses to the Complaint. In the first numbered paragraph of their Answer, Lowe's admits to the allegations in paragraph 1(c) of the Complaint which asserts that Adcock can alternatively be served process as their legal representative. R. at 18.

On March 25, 2010, Lowe's filed a Motion to Dismiss Based on Bar of Statute of Limitations with Supporting Authorities which alleged that the statute of limitations expired on November 28, 2009. R. at 26.

On August 12, 2010, a Notice of Appearance of James H. Heidelberg on behalf of Lowe's was filed. R. at 62. After Responses and several Motions were filed with regard to this Motion to Dismiss were filed, this matter was brought up for hearing before the Honorable Kathy Jackson on November 3, 2010.

On November 15, 2010, an Order of Dismissal was issued, dismissing the claim against Lowe's with prejudice. R. at 127.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This action was filed in July of 2009 In Jackson County Circuit Court following three tolling agreements and attempted settlement negotiations between McRae and Adcock. Shortly after the filing of the Complaint, McRae served a copy of the Complaint to Adcock, leaving a copy outside his office next to the door.

ongoing. In their Answer filed on February 8, 2010, Lowe's admitted that Adcock was their legal representation and could be served process at his office in Ridgeland, Mississippi.

Therefore, pursuant to Rule 8 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. McRae had provided a copy of the Complaint to an admitted agent of Lowe's Home Centers, Inc. By their own admission, Adcock could be served process and, until their filing of the Motion to Dismiss Based on Bar of Statute of Limitations, had no objections to Adcock accepting service on behalf of Lowe's. Therefore, the contention that Adcock could not be served, which was relied both by Lowe's and the trial court, cannot overcome the admissions made in their own Answer.

Furthermore, settlement negotiations and informed investigations were active and ongoing, even before the filing of the Complaint. McRae furnished, at Adcock's request, many medical documents and other discoverable material in order to aid and encourage settlement.

McRae served Adcock, the delay in serving the client was at the request of Adcock while they continued attempts at settlement. While established case law in Mississippi holds that good faith settlement negotiations, the matter at hand goes past just mere good faith settlement negotiations.

As one of the leading cases regarding "good cause" under Rule 4 of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, *Holmes v. Coastal Transit Authority*, 815 So.2d 1183 (Miss. 2002) seems to be

Further, any reliance on the more recent case *Stutts v. Miller*, 37 So.3d 1 (Miss. 2010) decided by this Court is also be distinguishable from the case at hand. M.R.C.P 8 only requires that the pleadings put the Defendant in an action on notice, hence the development of "notice pleading." In neither of these Rule 4(h) cases has the counsel for the Defendant been in possession of the Complaint most of the settlement negotiations. Further, counsel for the Defendant in these precedent cases has not had the further advantage of conducting informal discovery under the mask of aiding settlement. At some point, good faith settlement negotiations should cross into "good cause" for Rule 4(h) purposes.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion to dismiss is reviewed *de novo. Scuggs* v. GPCH-GP, Inc., 931 So.2d 1274, 1275 (Miss. 2006). However, this Court has given discretion to the trial court in findings of fact regarding the existence of good cause with regards to delay in service of process pursuant to Rule 4(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. *Johnson v. Thomas ex rel. Polatsidis*, 982 So.2d 405 (Miss. 2008). "Good cause" is a finding of fact "entitled to deferential review of whether the trial court abused its discretion and whether there was substantial evidence supporting the determination." *LeBlanc v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 809 So.2d 674, 676 (Miss. 2002). "Where such discretion is abused or is not supported by substantial evidence, this Court will reverse." *Long v. Mem T Hosp. at Gulfport*, 969 So.2d 35, 38 (Miss. 2007).

ARGUMENT

I. Service of Process was Proper as to Lowe's Home Centers, Inc. Based on their Admissions in their Answer to the Complaint

Because Lowe's admitted in their Answer that opposing counsel could be served with process, service of process should be considered complete. Opposing counsel was authorized by this admission to accept service of process on behalf of Lowe's.

The rule regarding responsive pleading is well-established. Rule 8 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure states that:

Defenses: Form of Denials. A party shall state in short and plain terms his defenses to each claim and shall admit or deny the averments upon which the adverse party relies. . .

M.R.C.P. 8(b). In a properly numbered and formatted Complaint, the Defendant must admit or deny to the best of their knowledge and ability each averment set forth. Essentially, proof is only needed when it is a contested issue—when a fact or averment is admitted, there is nothing to contest.

The Complaint was filed on July 27, 2009 with the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi. R. at 6. Pursuant to Rule 8(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, the Complaint adhered to setting forth short and plain statements showing Hudson's entitlement of relief in clearly numbered paragraphs. M.R.C.P. Rule 8(a). In paragraph 1(c) of the Complaint, Hudson sought to establish the parties and where proper service of process may be completed. This paragraph included the statement that service of process may be delivered to Ken Adcock at his office. R. at 6. Since counsel for Hudson had been informed prior to the filing of the

² This practice is so entrenched in procedure that the best summation can be found in a very early case, *Parkhurst v. McGraw*, 1852 WL 2002, 3 (April Term 1852) which held, simply, that facts admitted by the pleadings cannot be changed or challenged by the proof

Complaint that Adcock was the "spokesperson" and attorney for Lowe's and given the ongoing settlement negotiations and informal investigations between the attorneys, this addition was seemingly appropriate.

On or around February 8, 2010, Lowe's filed their Answer and Defenses. In paragraph one, Lowe's admitted the facts set forth in paragraph 1(c) of the Complaint by stating clearly that "Defendant admits the allegations of paragraph 1(c)." R. at 18. At this point, counsel for Plaintiff had already hand-delivered a copy of the Complaint to Adcock on or around August 6, 2009 and in January of 2010, Adcock had requested that McRae "go ahead and serve" Lowe's as well so that he did not want to have tensions with his client. R. at 90. Although he felt that this was odd given that counsel for Defendant had already been in possession of a copy of the Complaint, Lowe's was served on January 20, 2010. R. at 4.

The simple and basic conclusion to be drawn is that counsel for the Plaintiff was in communication with Adcock prior to drafting and filing the Complaint. Given the working relationship and communication, he felt it sufficient to include opposing counsel as a possibility for satisfying service of process in the Complaint as he was the "attorney of record and spokesperson." He followed through by delivering a copy to opposing counsel and no further issue regarding service was made as negotiations continued. Another copy of the Complaint was sent in November of 2009 when counsel opposite stated that he could not find his copy. R. at 89. Later, settlement negotiations ended, an Answer was filed, and Plaintiff began discovery requests without any issues being raised regarding service until the Motion to Dismiss was filed in March of 2010.

Lowe's heavily relied on the "fact" that their attorney never agreed nor was authorized to accept service on behalf of his client; however, the answer says otherwise. Furthermore, the trial court, in the Order of Dismissal, stated that Hudson had pointed to "nothing in the record beyond agreement showing he [Adcock] had the authority to accept it." This issue was addressed in the lower court hearing to ensure that the trial court was aware that Lowe's had admitted Adcock could be served process in their Answer. R. at 9. Vol. Pursuant to the Rules of Civil Procedure, the admissions of a Defendant must be admitted. If Lowe's did not want their attorney to have any authority to accept service of process, it should have been reflected in their Answer.

Furthermore, it was Lowe's that telephoned Plaintiff's counsel and stated that Adcock would be the "spokesperson" and attorney representing them on this matter.

Admissions made by Lowe's in their Answer should be considered admitted therefore allowing service to their attorney to be deemed proper. All communication and inquiries were directed to Lowe's attorney, even prior to the filing of the Complaint. No issue was raised prior to March of 2010 regarding the service of process after Lowe's had answered the Complaint and the Plaintiff had continued forward with the formal discovery process. Lowe's should be held to their admissions set forth in their Answer.

II. Settlement Negotiations coupled with Informal Discovery Are Considered Good Cause under Rule 4.

Because settlement negotiations together with informal discovery were so extensive, this conduct should be considered "good cause" as to the postponement of service of process.

Rule 4(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure states as follows:

Summons: Time Limit for Service. If a service of the summons and complaint is not made upon a defendant within 120 day after the filing of the complaint and the party on whose behalf such service was required

cannot show *good cause* why such service was not made within that period, the action shall be dismissed as to that defendant without prejudice upon the court's own initiative with notice to such party or upon motion.

M.R.C.P. 4(h) (emphasis added). The requirement of service of process pursuant to M.R.C.P. 4 is required to ensure that a Defendant is fully aware of the pending litigation and put said. Defendant on fair notice of litigation. *See* Comment to M.R.C.P. 4. However, if service is not deemed complete, it is the burden of the Plaintiff to show why service could not be completed within the 120 days as provided in M.R.C.P. 4.

Prior to the filing of the suit, Lowe's contacted Plaintiff's counsel in order to commence settlement negotiations by instructing him to contact their attorney, Ken Adcock. Following the filing of the Complaint, Plaintiff was asked to delay service as settlement seemed to be a desirable option for both parties at that stage. Despite this request, counsel for the Plaintiff served Adcock a copy of the Complaint, filed in July 2009, via hand-delivery and the negotiations continued. Adcock had to do his own thorough investigation and requested at different times documents for review. He was having trouble on one occasion determining who the forklift operator was and seemed to be confused as to the date the incident occurred. Notice to the Defendant—the function of Rule 4 and service of process—was achieved upon service of the Complaint to Adcock. As the Defendant has not been prejudiced by the informality of the service to Adcock, the Plaintiff should not be precluded from proceeding with their cause of action.

As previously discussed, Hudson contends that service of process was completed once a copy was hand-delivered to defense counsel on or around August 6, 2009, shortly after the filing of the Complaint on July 27, 2009. Further, defense counsel was supplied with additional copies

since that date. However, in the alternative, the active and continuous settlement negotiations along with the informal discovery and investigations between attorneys should be considered sufficient as "good cause" pursuant to the exception in M.R.C.P. 4.

At first glance, the Mississippi case law regarding settlement negotiations as "good cause" does not favor this argument. In *Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority*, this Court considered the use of discovery and settlement negotiations as good cause under the meaning of M.R.C.P. 4. *Holmes v. Coastal Transit Authority*, 815 So.2d 1183 (Miss. 2002). The Court adopted the rationale that negotiations do not constitute good cause for failure to effect service under M.R.C.P. 4(h). *Id* at 1187. However, looking further into the precedent case, this matter can be contrasted from *Holmes*. There was only one attempt to serve the governmental defendant in *Holmes* and this attempt was made via United States Mail. There was no acknowledgement that the defendant in *Holmes* had even seen the Complaint. *Id* at 1184. Here, counsel for Plaintiff delivered a copy to Adcock on one occasion at this office who stated he would review it. Later, an additional copy of the Complaint requested by defense counsel was provided in November of 2009. R. at 88-89. Surely, since Lowe's had informed counsel for Plaintiff that Adcock would be their attorney, he would also supply them with any documents he was given, including the Complaint. (It should also be noted that the Defendant blocked the taking of Lowe's deposition to confirm their facts.)

Recently, in *Stutts v. Miller*, this Court held that the plaintiff in that case did not establish good cause based on the affidavits submitted describing the failed attempts to serve the defendants. *Stutts v.Millier*, , 37 So.3d 1,6 (Miss. 2010). In *Stutts*, the plaintiffs did not provide enough evidence to show that good cause in delay of service of process had been reached. *Id.*

The diligence of the plaintiffs to complete service of process may not have been enough to reach good cause, but, once again, this case does not parallel the matter at hand. In good faith, counsel for the Plaintiff had entered into settlement negotiations with defense counsel prior to the filing of the Complaint on July 27, 2009. R. at 98-99. Defense counsel had been given copies of the Complaint and discoverable documents. Exhaustive settlement negotiations had been ongoing prior to and since the filing of the Complaint. Plaintiff's counsel had even proposed defense counsel conduct a deposition of Hudson's doctors.

Active settlement negotiations and informal discovery continued after the filing of the Complaint as evidenced by correspondence and phone conversations between McRae and Adcock. With due diligence, McRae served, via hand-delivery, a copy of the Complaint to Adcock effectively putting the Lowe's on notice that the Complaint had been filed. This, at a minimum, should be considered constructive service, whereby putting Adcock on notice that the lawsuit would commence if settlement could not be reached. Further, it was defense counsel, prior to the end of the last tolling agreement that told counsel for Plaintiff to go ahead and file the lawsuit to take it "to the next level." R. at 89. Negotiations were active and open well past the November 28, 2009 statute of limitations as proposed by the Defendant in their Motion to Dismiss.

On or around January 5, 2010, the attorneys agreed that settlement could not be reached at this stage and determined that Hudson should also serve process on Lowe's Home Center, Inc. R. at 96. While it is Hudson's belief and contention that Lowe's and their counsel were already on notice and had been effectively served, Lowe's was served on January 20, 2010 as per defense counsel's request as he did not wish to be "crossed up" with his client. R. at 13. This

was considered to be courtesy service as counsel for Plaintiff was under the belief that Adcock had already been served.

Many jurisdictions have considered settlement negotiations as "good cause" under their rules of civil procedure regarding service of process. (See Scrimer v. Eight Judicial Dist. Ct., 998 P.2d 1190, 1195, Assad v. Liberty Chevrolet, Inc., 124 F.R.D. 31 (D.R.I. 1989), Carlton v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 621 So.2d 451, 455 (Fla. 1st Dist. App. 1993). Further, settlement negotiations are encouraged in good faith attempt to bring about an amicable resolution and should be considered as a valid basis for good cause. Parties should be encouraged, not admonished, to foster an amicable working relationship with opposing counsel and should further be able to rely on their cooperation as a promotion, not a hindrance, of justice.

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