IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ARTHUR GERALD HUDSON and LINDA S. HUDSON

APPELLANTS

v.

No. 2010-TS-0101958

LOWE'S HOME CENTERS, INC. and JOHN DOE, UNKNOWN FORKLIFT OPERATOR

APPPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, LOWE'S HOME CENTERS, INC.

Oral Argument Not Requested

JAMES H. HEIDELBERG (MCGAUAN JESSICA M. DUPONT (MSB MCGAUAN HEIDELBERG, STEINBERGER, COLMER & BURROW, P.A. POST OFFICE BOX 1407 711 DELMAS AVENUE PASCAGOULA, MS 39568-1407 TELEPHONE: 228-762-8021 FACSIMILE: 228-762-7589

> ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE LOWE'S HOME CENTERS, INC.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ARTHUR GERALD HUDSON and LINDA S. HUDSON

APPELLANTS

v.

No. 2010-TS-0101958

Statement of the Case
Summary of the Argument
Argument4
I. Lowe's was not properly served because, in violation of Rule 4, Plaintiffs failed to personally deliver process to its registered agent for service
A. Attorney Ken Adcock was not Lowe's authorized agent for service and could not accept service on Lowe's behalf. In <i>Tucker v. Williams</i> , the Mississippi Court of Appeals squarely rejected the argument that a corporation's attorney has de facto authority to receive service on its behalf
B. Even if Adcock were authorized to receive service on Lowe's behalf, leaving a copy of the Summons and Complaint on the doorstep of his office is not a permissible method for service
C. Lowe's alleged "admission" in its Answer to Plaintiffs' Complaint served after the statute of limitations had expired has no bearing on the validity of previous service attempts before the statute of limitations had expired
II. The lower court did not abuse its discretion when dismissing Plaintiffs' case under Rule 4(h). Plaintiffs' assertion that ongoing settlement negotiations and "misconduct" by Lowe's counsel constitute "good cause" for the failure of timely service has no basis in law or fact9
A. In <i>Holmes v. Coastal Transit Authority</i> , this Court held that settlement negotiations are not good cause for a plaintiff's failure to make timely service
B. Plaintiffs' allegations of misconduct stem from a series of unsupported factual allegations and are thus not properly before this Court
Conclusion14
Certificate of Service
Appendix 1

ı

ł

L

i

ł

ļ

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Case Law</u>
Holmes v. Coastal Transit Authority, 825 So. 2d 1183 (Miss. 2002)1, 11, 12, 14
Johnson v. Rao, 952 So. 2d 151 (Miss. 2007)7
Montgomery v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 910 So. 2d 541 (Miss. 2005)9
Perry v. Andy, 858 So. 2d 143 (Miss. 2003)10
Powe v. Byrd, 892 So. 2d 223 (Miss. 2004)10
Ransom v. Brennan, 437 F.2d 513 (5th Cir. 1971)
Stutts v. Miller, 37 So. 3d 1 (Miss. 2010)
Tucker v. Williams, 7 So. 3d 961 (Miss. App. 2009)4, 5, 6
United States v. Ziegler Bolt and Parts Co., 111 F.3d 878 (Fed. Cir. 1997)
Viking Investments, LLC v. Addison Body Shop, Inc., 931 So. 2d 679 (Miss. App. 2006)6
Statutes and Rules
Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-491
Miss. Code Ann. § 79-4-5.01
Miss. R. Civ. P. 4 passim

Federal Practice & Procedure § 1137 (3d ed. 2000)......14

Other Authorities

4B Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Mississippi law requires that process served on a domestic corporation be delivered to its officer, managing or general agent, or an agent authorized by law to receive service. Plaintiffs allege they attempted to serve Lowe's prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations by placing a summons and complaint on the doorstep of its attorney's office. That attorney was not Lowe's officer, agent or registered agent for service. Accordingly, this alleged service was not proper. Further, Plaintiff could not logically have relied on any subsequent admissions made by Lowe's in its Answer after it had been properly served (albeit untimely) through its registered agent for service of process and such admissions do not relate back to the time of the alleged "doorstep" service.

2. Upon determining that service was not proper, the trial court dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(h). Plaintiffs contend that this dismissal should be reversed because ongoing settlement negotiations constituted "good cause" for the failure of service. In *Holmes v. Coastal Transit Authority*, this Court expressly rejected the assertion that settlement negotiations are "good cause" under Rule 4(h). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that "good cause" did not exist.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This lawsuit arises from an incident at a Lowe's Home Centers, Inc. store in Pascagoula, Mississippi, on May 5, 2006. (R.7) Plaintiff Arthur Gerald Hudson alleges he was injured by a forklift operated by a Lowe's employee. (R. 7) Plaintiff Hudson and his wife Linda did not immediately file suit, and the three year statute of limitations prescribed by Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 was set to expire on May 5, 2009. (R. 3) The parties, however, agreed to enlarge the statute of limitations, entering into three separate tolling agreements which extended the time to file suit to July 31, 2009. (R. 12, 30, 31)

On July 27, 2009, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi, tolling the statute of limitations and commencing the 120-day period for proper service of process. (R. 3) Court records show that on August 3, 2009, the Circuit Clerk issued a summons addressed to Lowe's registered agent for service, Corporation Service Company. (R. 13) Three days later, counsel for the Plaintiffs alleges he attempted to "serve" Lowe's, not by providing a copy to the registered agent for Lowe's described in the Summons, but rather by leaving a copy of the Summons and Complaint propped up outside the door of one of Lowe's attorneys, Ken Adcock. (R. 88) No other attempt was made to serve Corporation Service Company or Lowe's itself during the 120-day period. Plaintiffs sought no extension of time to serve.

On November 24, 2009, the time period for proper service elapsed, and the statute of limitations resumed the next day. Four days later, on November 28, 2009, the statute of limitations expired. It was not until January 20, 2010, that Lowe's registered agent actually received service of process. (R. 15) On February 10, 2010, Lowe's answered the Complaint, asserting that the Plaintiffs' claims were barred by the statute of limitations. (R. 18) Subsequently, Lowe's filed its Motion to Dismiss. (R. 26) In response, Plaintiffs for the first time provided a "proof of service" alleging that service was made on Ken Adcock on August 6, 2009. (R. 124) This "proof of service" was signed by Plaintiffs' counsel, but was not submitted to a notary public until November 2, 2010, fifteen months after the alleged service. (R. 124)

The Circuit Court ultimately granted the Motion to Dismiss on November 15, 2010. (R. 127) The Court determined that Plaintiffs' alleged attempted service on Adcock was made upon an improper person in an improper manner and that no good cause existed for the failure of timely service. (R. 127-29) For a chart depicting the relevant dates in this matter, see Appendix 1 attached hereto.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Service was not properly completed during the 120-day period required by law. Nor was service completed prior to expiration of the statute of limitations. There is no credible legal or factual argument that "good cause" existed for the failure of service within the service or limitation period. For both of these reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of this case with prejudice.

Plaintiffs' sole alleged attempt to serve Lowe's within the statute of limitations period was defective in two ways. First, the person whom Plaintiffs attempted to serve – Lowe's attorney, Ken Adcock – had no lawful authority to receive service. Adcock was not and is not Lowe's registered agent for service. At all relevant times, Lowe's has maintained a single agent for proper service, Corporation Service Company. (R. 17) The record, and the Summons issued by the clerk, demonstrates that Plaintiffs were aware of this agent's existence and location. (R. 6, 17) Further, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has expressly held that service on a corporation's attorney is improper when that attorney is not specifically authorized to receive process. There is also no merit to Plaintiffs' argument that subsequent admissions in Lowe's Answer validated Plaintiffs' alleged prior service on Adcock. Lowe's could not designate an agent for service can later be made proper by an admission occurring five months after the defective attempt.

Second, the manner of Plaintiffs' attempted service was inadequate. Leaving process outside Adcock's office door is not permissible, even if Adcock had authority to receive it. The rules of service require a process server to deliver the documents to an individual or agent. Mississippi law provides that leaving service of process unattended when the intended recipient cannot be located is not an acceptable method for perfecting personal service under Rule 4.

Finally, Plaintiffs have not demonstrated that the trial court abused its discretion in determining that no good cause existed for their failure to serve. At the heart of Plaintiffs' "good cause" argument is the assertion that ongoing settlement negotiations constitute good cause. This Court has squarely rejected that theory. Moreover, Plaintiffs' factually unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct do not excuse their lack of diligence in perfecting proper service.

For each of these reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of Plaintiffs' suit with prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. Lowe's was not properly served because, in violation of Rule 4, Plaintiffs failed to personally deliver process to its registered agent for service.

Plaintiffs'sole alleged attempt to serve process on Lowe's prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations was defective for two reasons. First, the person allegedly served – Lowe's attorney, Ken Adcock – had no lawful authority to accept service. Second, the manner of alleged service was improper as "leaving a complaint propped against defense counsel's door is 'not an authorized means to serve process upon a corporate entity.'" (R. 128) (quoting *Tucker v. Williams*, 7 So. 3d 961, 967 (Miss. App. 2009)). Indeed, "the only specific method for serving a 'domestic corporation' is to deliver 'a copy of the summons and of the complaint to an officer, a managing or general agent, or to any other agent authorized by law to receive service of process.'" *Tucker*, 7 So. 3d at 967 (quoting Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(4)). Pursuant to this rule, Plaintiffs' sole alleged attempt at service prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations was defective, and the trial court correctly dismissed the Complaint for want of proper service. Accordingly, Plaintiffs' claims are barred with prejudice, as the applicable statute of limitations had expired by the time proper service occurred.

A. Attorney Ken Adcock was not Lowe's authorized agent for service and could not accept service on Lowe's behalf. In *Tucker v. Williams*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals squarely rejected the argument that a corporation's attorney has de facto authority to receive service on its behalf.

An attorney does not have authority to accept service merely because he represents a party. *Ransom v. Brennan*, 437 F.2d 513, 518 (5th Cir. 1971). More is required. *Id.* The Mississippi Court of Appeals considered the propriety of service on a corporation's attorney in *Tucker v. Williams.* 7 So. 3d at 962. There, the plaintiffs attempted to serve the defendant corporation by mailing process to the attorney representing the defendant in the underlying transaction. *Id.* The Court disagreed with the plaintiffs' contention that service was proper because they had extensive interaction with this attorney prior to the filing of suit. *Id.* at 967. Citing Rule 4(d)(4), the Court emphasized that the record contained no evidence establishing that the corporation's attorney was "an officer, a managing agent, a general agent, [or] a registered agent to receive service of process . . .," *Id.* at 966. The Court also observed that the plaintiffs knew who the actual agent for service was and where he could be found. *Id.* at 962. On these bases, the Court expressly refused to find that service on the defendant's attorney was proper. *Id.* at 966.

Additionally, the Court in *Tucker* dismissed the plaintiffs' argument that the attorney's actions and correspondence in the underlying matter transformed him into an agent for service. *Id.* at 967. Instead, the Court concluded that the failure of proper service and the lack of an appearance by the defendant deprived the trial court of personal jurisdiction. *Id.* at 968. The Court's analysis in *Tucker* supports the rule that an attorney's involvement in a case, no matter how substantial, does not in itself circumscribe the requirement that service be made on a corporation's authorized agent.

Further, as a matter of policy, the rules governing service of process exist to prevent confusion for litigants and to ensure that corporate entities have proper notice of civil suits. A

corporation the size of Lowe's is represented on any given occasion by a large number of attorneys at various firms. State law requires a corporate entity to designate a centralized agent for service specifically to aid potential litigants. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 79-4-5.01. Lowe's did this by designating Corporation Service Company. A corporation also benefits from the ability to monitor litigation by funneling service to this single agent. A plaintiff is not able to haphazardly serve an attorney merely because of his prior involvement with a corporate defendant.

B. Even if Adcock were authorized to receive service on Lowe's behalf, leaving a copy of the Summons and Complaint on the doorstep of his office is not a permissible method for service.

Proper service cannot be made by leaving a summons and complaint unattended at a place of business. Assuming for the sake of argument that Adcock was a proper agent for service on Lowe's, which he was not, Plaintiffs have not identified any authority which permits service on a corporation by abandoning documents outside of its agent's office. In fact, the Court of Appeals has specifically concluded that merely leaving a summons and complaint on a corporation's property is not appropriate. *Tucker*, 7 So. 3d at 967. Placing service of process on corporate premises "when the intended recipient cannot be located is clearly not one of the methods for perfecting personal service under Rule 4." *Viking Investments, LLC v. Addison Body Shop, Inc.*, 931 So. 2d 679, 682 (Miss. App. 2006).

Where a plaintiff chooses to serve a corporation via personal delivery of process, the summons and complaint must be handed to an actual person. Under Rule 4, two methods of service on a corporation exist: service by mail or delivery by hand. Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(c) & (d). Here, Plaintiffs chose to hand deliver the Summons and Complaint. (R. 126) Not finding anyone at Adcock's office, the server allegedly elected to leave the documents at the door, unjustifiably trusting that an authorized individual would find and deliver them to Adcock. (R.

89) The rules simply do not permit service of this kind. Even if Adcock could not be found, Plaintiffs were required to ensure that an individual with authority to accept service on his behalf took custody of the Summons and Complaint. *See Johnson v. Rao*, 952 So. 2d 151, 156 (Miss. 2007).

Even the rules governing service on an individual – which provide more avenues for service than the rules regarding service on a corporation – do not permit "doorstep service." When an individual is served at his home, the documents must still be left with a person of suitable age and discretion. *See* Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d). Certainly, the rules requiring that service be accepted by a competent individual speak to the policy concerns of the courts. Plaintiffs ought not be able to assert proper service where a defendant's actual receipt of process is governed by chance. A document left on the doorstep is as likely to be inadvertently discarded as it is to reach the individual for whom it was intended.

Under these circumstances, service was not made on a proper person nor in a proper manner. On either basis, this Court should find that Plaintiffs failed to comply with Rule 4(h), and thereby affirm the trial court's dismissal.

C. Lowe's alleged "admission" in its Answer to Plaintiffs' Complaint served after the statute of limitations had expired has no bearing on the validity of previous service attempts before the statute of limitations had expired.

Plaintiffs assert, without authority, that Lowe's counsel must accept service on its behalf because Lowe's admitted in its Answer that Adcock could be served at his offices. This proposition is flawed in several ways. In making this argument, plaintiffs attempt to advance a kind of "reliance" argument that they could rely on a Lowe's statement in its Answer, regarding service, that occurred only *after* the statute of limitations had expired.

However, Plaintiffs' own Complaint undercuts their argument that service was proper on Adcock. (R. 6) The Complaint plainly shows that Plaintiffs were aware of the existence and

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